
1 

 DEVELOPMENT REVIEW BOARD 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

Monday, October 27, 2025 
6:00 p.m. - Hybrid Meeting 

 
Topic: Ludlow Development Review Board - Hybrid 
Log-In Online 27 October 2025 at 17:45 Eastern Time (US and Canada) 
 
Join Zoom Meeting: Ludlow Development Review Board Zoom Link – October 27, 2025 
Meeting ID: 960 3551 7223 
Passcode: 153190 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 

George Tucker, Jr. - Chair Julie Nicoll Doug Sheehan   

John Boehrer     
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: 

Phil Carter    

 
STAFF PRESENT:  

  Jarrod Jowdy 
 

Erin Ladd Lisha Klaiber 

OTHERS PRESENT:  
 
Eric Alden – All Joe Karl Gary Rapanotti - Lannon 
Scott Baitz - All James Mitchell – Pott Belly Ted Reeves – Pot Belly 
Gail Beardmore Jane Mitchell – Pot Belly David Rose -  Garone 
Danny DelMastro -Pot Belly Erik Newman - Lannon Scott Stearns – Pot Belly 
Nickeisha Eivers – Pot Belly Tim Palmer – Pot Belly Barbara Storrs – Pot Belly 
Patti Greenwood – Pot Belly Frank Provance - Lannon Jean Strong – All 
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER - Roll Call 
 

1.    George Tucker, Chair, opened the meeting at 6:00 p.m., all members present, except Phil Carter  
 
 
II. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

2 
 

1.    No changes were needed 
 

 
III. PUBLIC HEARING REVIEW FOR GARONE FAMILY VERMONT HOLDINGS 
 

1. George Tucker advised that this is not a public hearing.  It is just to provide additional 
information to a closed hearing for the application to subdivide one 39.1-acre lot into two lots of 
22.45 and 16.65 acres. This is a updated map dated September 28, 2025. This map is up to 
compliance with subdivision regulations and shows building envelop that was not in the previous 
map. 

2. Erin Ladd said that Chris Callahan has requested that it be stated on the record that this map was 
received into evidence. 

3. Jarrod Jowdy said that in their Notice of Decision it was stated that any future changes to the 
building envelop would require return to the DRB. through the regular building process. 

4. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by Doug Sheehan to close this public 
hearing review.  Motion passed unanimously 

 
 
IV. RECESSESD PUBLIC HEARING FOR GARY SAWICKI 
 

1. George Tucker, Jr. advised that this is an application to purchase and merge an adjacent non-
conforming lot. The project is located in the Lakes District.  This hearing was recessed from the 
September 8, 2025 meeting 

2. Jarrod Jowdy said they will enter into evidence Exhibit #2 which was in the DRB members’ 
packets.   

3. George Tucker, Jr. said the submission has been received into evidence.  The application was to 
merge 2 non-conforming lots and make them less non-conforming. He cited emails from Chris 
Callahan to James Young and email from James Young to Chris Callahan.  (See emails attached 
at end of minutes.)  These emails outline the agreements regarding lot line adjustments.  Lot C 
will be merged into Lot A.  While the new lot will still be non-conforming, it will be less non-
conforming. 

4. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by John Boehrer to close this hearing.  
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
V. OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING FOR LANNON LAND, LLC. 
 

1. George Tucker, Jr. advised that this is an application to subdivide one 32.88 acre lot into three 
lots of 17.72 acres, 9.33 acres and 5.59 acres.   This property is located on Lannon Lane the Town 
Residential District. 

2. Jarrod Jowdy said this is Application SUB25-005  Property owner Lannon Land. LLC.  The 
property is located on Lannon Lane in the Town Residential District.  He said it was posted in the 
Town Hall bulletin Boards on October 6, 2025 and the Post Office Bulletin board and on the 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

3 
 

website on October 6, 2025, advertised in THE VERMONT JOURNAL on September 24, 2025 
and abutting property owners were notified on October 3, 2025.  

3. George Tucker, Jr. said the Exhibits 001 through 040 of the evidence have been accepted into the 
record.  He administered the oath to Frank Provance and Gery Rapinnotti. 

4. Gary Rapinotti said this is the 1st of 2 hearings for Lannon land. This is the section on the left and 
is lots 1 and 2.  These are residential lots.  He said that 17.72 acres will be annexed to Fox Run 
Properties.  He indicated the house and septic. The well is on a separate parcel. There is a 100-
foot strip that comes off Lannon Lane that accesses lots 1 and 2 and also 3 and 4. 

5. George Tucker, Jr. advised that the DRB desires to keep the well shields on the individual 
properties.  Can this be accommodated. 

6. Gary Rapinotti said they have not been doing this since 2007 when the state took over. The state 
allows the well shields to go off the properties, but Ludlow has kept them on the same properties. 

7. George Tucker, Jr. said that the well shields that are on the lots are indicated in the deeds. 
8. Gary Rapinotti said if they get a state waste water permit, all of the well shields will be listed. 
9. George Tucker, Jr. asked about wet lands 
10. Gary Rapinotti said no 
11. George Tucker, Jr. asked about streams 
12. Gary Rapinotti said it is pretty much high and dry –  
13. George Tucker, Jr. asked about ridgelines 
14. Gary Rapinotti said 500 feet to the north and about 80 -100 feet high 
15. Jarrod Jowdy they are not showing development on the ridge lines 
16. Julie Nicoll said the DRB does not want well shields to encumber other properties. 
17. Gary Rapinotti asked where that would be indicated. 
18. Jarrod Jowdy said in the definition of a well isolation area.  Ludlow requires well shields be 

located on the said lot when the well is located.  It is in the town zoning regulations. 
19. Julie Nicoll said that it was said on the record that the applicant can’t do that 
20. Gary Rapinotti said there are 4 house sites.  He said that the state rule says a house can be built. 
21. Jarrod Jowdy said that all of the deeds will have to contain language with information about the 

location of the well shields. 
22. George Tucker, Jr. said the drawing shows attached garages and asked how many bedrooms. 
23. Frank Provance said 5, with attached garage and other amenities. 
24. George Tucker, Jr. said if they want more than 5 bedrooms, thay would have to come back to the 

DRB. He said that the conceptual data is provided on page 13.  He said any subsequent 
development plans. He asked if there is any slope greater that 25º 

25. Gary Rapinotti said at the tip of lot #2 at the NE corner of the annexed land 
26. Doug Sheehan asked if one of the houses would be for public use. 
27. George Tucker, Jr. said that Section 1.3 of the Town and Village of Ludlow Subdivisions 

describe Boundary Line Adjustments (see attached at end of minutes.) 
28. Gary Rapinotti said he shows 15% slope. 
29. George Tucker, Jr. asked about wildlife and scenic areas 
30. Gary Rapinotti said he doesn’t believe so.   
31. George Tucker, Jr. asked about the shared common road and asked which lot owns it 
32. Gary Rapinotti said most of it would be on Lot #1 and a little by Lot #2. 
33. Jarrod Jowdy asked if the hammerhead is on lot #2 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

4 
 

34. Gary Rapinotti said it is shown on the drawing on Lots 2 and 3. 
35. Jarrod Jowdy asked if it could be defined a bit more so you can see there is room for EMS 

vehicles. 
36. Gary Rapinotti said he shows the width of the roadway 
37. Julie Nicoll said the drawing shows 6 bedrooms 
38. Frank Provance said it was updated from 5 to 6 on the conceptual drawing 
39. George Tucker, Jr. said the wastewater permit says 5 
40. Gary Rapinotti said he shows 6. 
41. John Boehrer said drawing 1 of 5 says 5 bedrooms. 
42. Jarrod Jowdy said that page 028 – part of the wastewater permit says 5 bedrooms. 
43. George Tucker, Jr. said that overrides the conceptual plans.  He asked about storm water impact. 
44. Gary Rapinotti said it doesn’t meet the threshold – under one-acre impervious area. 
45. George Tucker, Jr. asked about the shared common area and asked if it meets town highway 

specifications. 
46. Gary Rapinotti said the current road exists 
47. George Tucker, Jr. said we are extending it now and it serves more than 3 lots.  He asked about 

the letter from the Fire Department. 
48. Frank Provance said they had not received a letter from Chief Whalen. 
49. George Tucker, Jr. asked about current space and trees 
50. Gary Rapinotti said there are trees 
51. George Tucker, Jr. asked how much they would have to cut back. 
52. Gary Rapinotti said about 1 ½ to 2 acres. 
53. Doug Sheehan asked if the well shields extend over other parcels 
54. Gary Rapinotti said no. – he said the oblong shape on Lot 1 is the well shield 
55. George Tucker, Jr. asked about to the south 
56. Gary Rapinotti indicated the neighbors well shield 
57. George Tucker, Jr. asked if there is an association in place 
58. Frank Provance said that a portion does have an association and it makes sense to have one 
59. George Tucker, Jr. administered the oath to Erik Newman 
60. Erik Newman said road maintenance is handled informally by the current at this time.  He said 

with the additional 4 lots, it makes sense to have an association.  He said his lot is 10 acres and he 
will be adjacent to lot 1. 

61. Frank Provance said they want to be friendly neighbors. 
62. Erik Newman said the town highway specs call for 25 foot wide and 12 feet cleared shoulder.  He 

said that the ROW is an old woods road. It is heavily skewed to the western side = the only flat 
area.  To improve it to 15 feet wide would mean cutting into the hill or bring in the fill for the 
downside. Even if they expanded it to 25 feet, they would have to wipe out the existing stand of 
trees that screen my land.  He requested that they relax the standard.  Clearing the shoulder would 
improve the ability to use the road. 

63. George Tucker, Jr. said that the DRB does not have the ability to change the road requirements.  
They can look at a variance based on average daily traffic.  The DRB can lower the speeds.  The 
width must be up to design specs. 

64. Jarrod Jowdy said that there is 100 feet between property lines and 50 feet could fit there. 
65. George Tucker, Jr. asked where the lines are 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

5 
 

66. Erik Newman said that this lot is clear to the property line.  The back property line is treed.  The 
road would have to be widened and the existing woods 15 foot of the line.  You will have to 
remove vegetation. 

67. George Tucker, Jr. asked who owns the trees 
68. Erik Newman said it’s within the swath. If they are only taking out those trees for the shoulder. 
69. George Tucker, Jr. said it could be on the uphill side 
70. Gary Rapinotti said if they cleared 35 feet wide, the brush has to be filled and there would be 

plenty of room 
71. Erik Newman said as you move closer to the cul-de-sac, there is a utility pole on the east side of 

the slope.  He wants to voice his concern, on the record, that he would like to have the vegetative 
buffer preserved between his lot and the extension. 

72. George Tucker, Jr. said that the DRB does take into consideration vegetation. 
73. Gary Rapinotti asked the size of the trees 
74. Erik Newman said there is brush, hardwood and softwood.  There is a 24” diameter pine tree. 
75. Gary Rapinotti said we would not touch the big trees, but would clear the 2-to-4-inch stuff. 
76. George Tucker, Jr. asked if they would leave a vegetated buffer between the new and existing 

road.   
77. Julie Nicoll said that they don’t have a letter from the Fire Department and asked if there would 

be room for emergency vehicles. 
78. George Tucker, Jr. asked if the road would be more than a 12% grade 
79. Gary Rapinotti said no – from the cul-de-sac to the split is less than 5%. 
80. Frank Provance said it is very flat. 
81. George Tucker, Jr. asked about the fire and police letters 
82. Frank Provance said there was also no police letter. 
83. Julie Nicoll said the plans say 6 bedrooms 
84. George Tucker, Jr. said all of the engineered plans and the state wastewater permit say 5 

bedrooms, but the conceptual drawings say 6 bedrooms.  Right now, they are limited to 5 
bedrooms.  He asked if they have plans to increase to 6 bedrooms. 

85. Frank Provance said yes. 
86. Gary Rapinotti said he will verify 
87. George Tucker, Jr. said with the documents this board has, they are limited to 5 bedrooms 

without adjustments.  The conceptual data will not override the 5 bedrooms with attached garage.  
He said this board will need to receive letters from the police and fire departments.  He asked if 
the utilities will run along the ROW. 

88. Frank Provance said they will be below ground and a small potion may be above ground. 
89. George Tucker, Jr. said this board will need a formal road association agreement – who will be 

part of it and who will maintain the road.  They will need the fire and police department letters 
and who is responsible for the road. 

90. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by Julie Nicoll to recess this hearing until 2 
weeks until the next DRB meeting. 

91. Frank Provance asked if they can do the road maintenance agreement on their own or join forces 
with the current owners. 

92. Gary Rapinotti said they will include the building envelopes and asked if the board wants 
setbacks. 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

6 
 

93. George Tucker, Jr. said yes, building envelopes and setbacks.  He asked about the hammerhead 
and if it meets specifications 

94. Gary Rapinotti said he will check on the road standards 
95. George Tucker, Jr. said the fire chief will also list specifications for EMS vehicles. 
96. Gary Rapinotti said he will make note on the drawings “Built to Town Road Specifications” 
97. George Tucker, Jr. said the meeting will be recessed until November 10, 2025 
98. Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 
VI. OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING FOR LANNON LAND, LLC. 
 

1. George Tucker, Jr. advised that this is an application to subdivide one 11.71-acre lot into two lots 
of 6.82 acres and 5.28 acres.   This property is located on Lannon Lane the Town Residential 
District. 

2. Jarrod Jowdy said this is Application SUB25-006.  Property owner Lannon Land. LLC.  The 
property is located on Lannon Lane in the Town Residential District.  He said it was posted in the 
Town Hall bulletin Boards on October 6, 2025 and the Post Office Bulletin board and on the 
website on October 6, 2025, advertised in THE VERMONT JOURNAL on September 24, 2025 
and abutting property owners were notified on October 3, 2025.  

3. George Tucker, Jr. administered the oath to Gary Rapinotti and Frank Provance. 
4. Gary Rapinotti said that this is a 2-lot subdivision, lots 3 and 4 to the right of the road off Lannon 

Lane.  They will have access to the 100-foot strip to lots 3 and 4.  It is a 15% slope and there are 
no wetlands. 

5. George Tucker, Jr. said in the prior hearing we discussed 5-bedroom houses and the question 
regarding 6 bedrooms. He said the drawings need to show the building envelopes. 

6. Gary Rapinotti they will provide a note for the road and turnaround for the files 
7. George Tucker, Jr. said they also need the letters from the police and fire departments, the 

highway specifications, and the vegetative buffer.  The well shields should be within the property 
owned by one owner. 

8. Frank Provance said it is Pinnacle Road 
9. George Tucker, Jr. said the shaded area is more than 15%, but it is not where the building will be.  

He asked if anything might be over 25%. 
10. Gary Rapinotti said he didn’t think so. 
11. George Tucker, Jr. asked about wooded or open space. 
12. Gary Rapinotti said it is totally wooded and they would clear about ½ to 2/3 acres 
13. George Tucker, Jr. said it is part of the same common road and they would need a road 

association for both  
14. Frank Provance said if we start our own association and then possibly add the Lannon Land, do 

we have to come back to the DRB 
15. George Tucker, Jr. said no – you will be responsible from where you start. Our decision will 

specify where you start and end.  That should be in your association documents. 
16. Doug Sheehan said that the lot sizes listed for these 2 lots is not added properly and the same for 

the previous hearing. 
17. Gary Rapinotti said he will check 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

7 
 

18. John Boehrer said the 2 different maps are confusing based on the compass rose. 
19. Gary Rapinotti said he will correct the maps. 
20. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by Doug Sheehan to recess this hearing until 

November 10, 2025.  Motion passed unanimously. 
 
 
VII.  OPEN THE PUBLIC HEARING FOR OKEMO5, LLC 
 

1. George Tucker, Jr. advised that this is an application to remove the existing building at 130 Main 
Street, and construct a new restaurant and 4 (four) residential units.  The property is located in the 
Village Residential-Commercial District. 

2. Jarrod Jowdy said this is Application 510-25-CU.  Property owner Okemo5 LLC.  The property is 
located at 130 Main Street in the Village Residential-Commercial District.  He said it was posted 
in the Town Hall bulletin Boards on October 6, 2025 and the Post Office Bulletin board and on 
the website on October 6, 2025, advertised in THE VERMONT JOURNAL on September 24, 
2025 and abutting property owners were notified on October 6, 2025. Letters have been received 
from Police, Ambulance and Fire departments.   

3. George Tucker, Jr. said the board has accepted into evidence exhibits 001 through 051.  
4. George Tucker, Jr. administered the oath to Ted Reeves and Scott Stearns.   
5.  Ted Reeves said that the applicant would like to tear down the existing Pot Belly building, 

leaving the foundation.  They want to build a new, 3 story building with at 78 seat restaurant on 
the first floor.  The 2nd and 3rd  floors will each have 2 apartments, a 2 bedroom and a 3-bedroom 
each.  He said that there is a typo on page 6 of the questionnaire.  It says the current proposal is 
for 14 parking spaces – it should read 18.  To meet the zoning regulations, they should have 23.  
He said he included an email from Brendan McNamara, Municipal Manager that addresses 
parking and the public parking area and will look to cover that parking differential.  He said there 
is also a type on page 8, Section 5.3…” consistent with the Village Residential/Commercial Zone 
(two)  parking spaces for each residential unit.”  He said that should read one parking space for 
each residential unit.  

6. George Tucker, Jr. said that the state made that change. 
7. Ted Reeves said that in the application, we address conformance to the town plan.  A goal is to 

redevelop Main Street and will help revitalize Main Street. 
8. Julie Nicoll asked the height of the new building. 
9. Ted Reeves said 32 feet 
10. George Tucker, Jr. said that on the questionnaire, the applicant is asking for slight concession for 

parking 
11. Ted Reeves said the setback for 126 to 130 Main is 3’3” and should be 8 feet.  These are existing 

conditions and we are not changing the foundation.  He said he discussed this with Jarrod Jowdy. 
12. George Tucker, Jr. checked again that they are not expanding the previous building 
13. Ted Reeves said it will be the same footprint and we will no longer have the front porch 
14. George Tucker, Jr. said the building is not in the historic district. 
15. Ted Reeves said we have the decision from State Historical 
16. Julie Nicoll asked if the 2 parking spaces in front of the building had been removed by the town 
17. George Tucker, Jr. administered the oath to Patti Greenwood 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

8 
 

18. Patti Greenwood said they currently have one space in front of Engels-Volkers and a crosswalk in 
front of the Pot Belly. 

19. George Tucker, Jr. read from the Village Zoning Regulations Section 261.2 
 

a. 261.2 – CONDITIONS OF CONTINUATION AND/OR CHANGE OF 
NONCONFORMING USE Any nonconforming use may be continued, or the 
nonconforming use changed, subject to the following:  
i. No nonconforming use may be changed, except to a conforming use or with a 

conditional use approval from the DRB, to a use which, in the opinion of the Board, is 
of the same or a more restrictive nature or another nonconforming use which is no 
more objectionable in character.  

ii. A nonconforming use, once it has been changed to or replaced by a conforming use, 
shall not be changed back to a nonconforming use. ZONING AND FLOOD HAZARD 
REGULATIONS AMENDMENT 23  

iii. A nonconforming use, which has been abandoned or discontinued for a period of six 
(6) months, shall not be resumed without conditional use approval from the 
Development Review Board. A nonconforming use which has been abandoned or 
discontinued for more than 1 year may not be reestablished.  

iv. A nonconforming use may be extended or expanded only with conditional use approval 
from the Development Review Board, which shall have determined that no greater 
detrimental effect upon the community or the neighborhood will result.  

v. Nothing in these Regulations shall prevent the maintenance or repair of a complying 
structure containing a nonconforming use, provided such maintenance or repair does 
not cause the structure to become nonconforming.  

vi. In the event the structure, containing a nonconforming use, has been unintentionally 
damaged or destroyed, such structure may be reconstructed or restored, and the 
nonconforming use reestablished subject to conditional use approval from the 
Development Review Board, provided an application for a conditional use permit is 
filed with the Zoning Administrator within one (1) year of the date of the damage or 
destruction. 

 
20. Ted Reeves said the existing building is not conforming.  The previous restaurant had 126 seats 

and we are cutting back to 78. 
21. George Tucker, Jr. referred to Item #3 above and noted that the building had been abandoned or 

discontinued for more than 6 months 
22. Ted Reeves noted that the 4 apartments will be an approved use, and the restaurant will be a 

conditional use. 
23. George Tucker, Jr. noted that a site plan was provided.  He added that the slight concession 

request is because of the benefit to the community. He noted that the previous water/sewer 
allocation was for a 126-seat restaurant.  We will be added 4 apartments.  He noted that they are 
not adding capacity 

24. Ted Reeves said there may be a reduction in capacity because of lesser seats.  He said there is a 
ROW between the building and the Book Nook building.  He said it is 17’ 7” and 16’6” to the 
property line from the West side of the Pot Belly 

25. George Tucker, Jr. asked if the ROW is shared between both parcels 
26. Ted Reeves said yes and it has existed for decades. 
27. Ted Reeves said there is a site plan revision dated 9/25/25. 
28. Julie Nicoll asked what they will do for the residents when there is a parking ban and spaces are 

all filled. 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

9 
 

29. Ted Reeves said the parking lot is gravel, so they can’t paint lines, but they will put up signs for 
restaurant or guest parking 

30. John Boehrer asked the width of the driveway and deliveries 
31. Ted Reeves said deliveries will be made during off-hours to the back of the building - that is one 

of the Police Chief’s stipulations.   
32. George Tucker, Jr. read Chief Warfle’s conditions into the record (please see end of minutes for 

conditions.) 
       The project was approved by the Chief 

1) The project will produce additional traffic.  It will place a burden on the roadway 
2) This project shall require additional traffic control measures:  During winter traffic hours, 

there shall be no large deliveries made to this location. 
3) Winter hours:  15:00 – 18:00, Friday, Saturday and Sunday, Christmas week in 

December, and President’s week in February. 
4) Alarm system not mandated but I would strongly suggest one, and register any and all 

alarms with the Ludlow Police Department 
5) This project in and of itself may place an adverse impact on the Ludlow Police 

Department.  However, combined with all the other buildings in Ludlow, the 
Department’s ability to service the Town may be diminished 

33. Ted Reeves said they make sense to him.  He said that requirement for an alarm is cited in Chief 
Whalen’s letter. See conditions below:  

1) Approved construction, electrical, and plumbing permits shall be obtained by the 
Vermont Division of Fire Safety prior to any work.  All noted conditions shall be met and 
the project, construction and occupancy shall be compliant with the stated adopted 
edition of NFPA 1, NFPA 101, and the Vermont Fire and Building Safety Code. 

2) Rough-in and final fire safety, electrical, and plumbing inspections shall be completed by 
the Division of Fire Safety and Ludlow Fire Department prior to the covering of walls 
and occupancy of the space 

3) The building shall be equipped with a full NFPA 13 sprinkler system.  The Fire 
Department Connection shall be a 5” storz. 

4) The assembly area shall have a Zoll brand AED located in and agreed upon location. 
5) A Knox Box shall be installed in an agreed upon location and be maintained wit the fire 

department access keys prior to occupancy 
6) If it is determined that this is a new construction, fire department impact fees shall be 

collected. 
34. George Tucker, Jr. asked about designated tenant parking 
35. Ted Reeves suggested that the hours may be 11:00 a.m. through 12:00 a.m.during the week and 

possibly until 1:00 a.m. on weekends. 
36. George Tucker, Jr. asked about markings for parking 
37. Ted Reeves said they will do it. 
38. George Tucker, Jr. asked about curb stops 
39. Ted Reeves said that could be done, but it gets complicated for snow plowing.  He said there is a 

dumpster in the corner and can push snow and pile it up along the property line and to the east 
40. George Tucker, Jr. asked about screening around the dumpster 
41. Ted Reeves said if conditioned, they can screen with mesh 
42. George Tucker, Jr. referred to the drawing, noting removal of front deck and one set of double 

doors.  He asked where residents would enter 
43. Ted Reeves said around the south-west corner of the building 
44. George Tucker, Jr. asked if there will be stairs 
45. Ted Reeves said yes. 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

10 
 

46. Julie Nicoll asked about handicapped parking 
47. Ted Reeves said they will put up normal ADA parking signs 
48. George Tucker, Jr. asked about the space over the doors 
49. Ted Reeves said it is an architectural feature.  He said the building has a full basement and some 

slab on grade.  The basement will be kept for mechanical space 
50. George Tucker, Jr. asked about location of the kitchen 
51. Ted Reeves said the kitchen and bathrooms will all be moved to the back to keep the plumbing in 

one location 
52. John Boehrer asked about outside lighting 
53. Ted Reeves said there will be lights in the arch in front, all night sky and compliant.  Over 

entrances and exits. 
54. John Boehrer asked about lighting in the parking lot 
55. Ted Reeves said 12’ high poles on the back 
56. Doug Sheehan asked about the items on the second floor 
57. Ted Reeves said those are the awning brackets. 
58. Doug Sheehan asked if there would be a deck in front and if so, would there be outside eating 
59. Ted Reeves said that at this time, there are no plans for that.  It is in the flood fringe.  If things 

change, we would have to come back to the DRB.  If we put in a deck, it would have to be raised 
for the flood regulations. 

60. Jarrod Jowdy asked who the residents would contact if they found every space filled 
61. Ted Reeves said there will be an association and it will develop plans. 
62. Doug Sheehan asked if the building owners would be living there 
63. Ted Reeves said he doesn’t think so 
64. John Boehrer asked if they will be keeping the name 
65. Ted Reeves said he thinks that may be the intention 
66. Scott Stearns asked if all of the parking would be on one side 
67. George Tucker, Jr. said the property site plan shows the parking. The parcel that shares the 

entrance has existing parking plans. 
68. George Tucker, Jr. administered the oath to Erik Alden 
69. Eric Alden said if the opinion is to revitalize the village, the first person to do so is the catalyst for 

others.  This is the catalyst.  The building is past its prime.  He considers this to only have a 
positive impact. 

70. Ted Reeves said there is a deficit of restaurant spaces and they have not replaces Sam’s or 
Darcy’s.  The community is looking for more restaurants 

71. Jarrod Jowdy asked about sidewalk dining 
72. Ted Reeves said he has not had that conversation with the owners. 
73. Scott Stearns said we have a parking problem and this may add more, He would like a better 

solution.  Main Street does not give overflow 
74. George Tucker, Jr. said that the State has lowered parking to one space per unit, but that does put 

more pressure on parking and doesn’t solve our problem. 
75. John Boehrer asked if any others have been allowed to use that parking 
76. Ted Reeves said he thinks Master Plumbing 
77. Ted Reeves said a rough guess for hours of operation would be 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 a.m. Monday 

through Thursday and Fridays, Saturdays and holidays until 1:00 am 
78. John Boehrer asked what if there were a funeral or wedding 
79. Hours of operation would be 8:00 a.m. to 12:00 a.m. Sunday through Thursday and 8:00 a.m. to 

1:00 a.m. Fridays, Saturdays and holidays 
80. John Boehrer asked if a permit is granted, when would they begin 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

11 
 

81. Ted Reeves said the owners would like to start demolition before the winter. 
82. Jarrod Jowdy asked if they remove the building, will there be parking during the winter 
83. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by John Boehrer to close this 

hearing.  Motion passed unanimously 
 
 

VIII. MINUTES- September 8, 2025 
 

1. Julie Nicoll noted that on page 2, Item #8 should read “in the.”  
2. Julie Nicoll noted that on page 3, Item #7 should read of deck usage.  
3. Julie Nicoll noted that on page 4, Item #32, should read about “an” 
4. Julie Nicoll noted that on page 6, Item #27 should read “lot” 
5. MOTION by John Boehrer and seconded by Doug Sheehan to approve the minutes from 

September 8, 2025 as corrected.  Motion passed unanimously 
 

 
IX. OTHER BUSINESS 
  

 
1. Vote on Divided Sky Foundation permit amendments to implement Court Order.   

a. Jarrod Jowdy read from the Court – Wording to be incorporated into the permit 
“The Court has ordered the DRB to amend the permits to permanently prohibit the 
operation of an outpatient methadone treatment clinic on the subject property.” 

b. George Tucker, Jr. polled the DRB board members and the change was unanimously 
approved. 

2. Review bi-weekly letters from the Mill as a condition of their MOU   
a. There were no comments from the board. 

 
 
X. ADJOURN 
 

1. MOTION by George Tucker, Jr. and seconded by John Boehrer to adjourn. Motion passed 
unanimously.   

2. Meeting adjourned at 7:56 p.m. 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 
Lisha Klaiber 
 
 

____________________________________ 
George Tucker, Jr., Chairman 

____________________________________ 
Julie Nicoll 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

12 
 

 
 
____________________________________ 
John Boehrer  

 
 
____________________________________ 
Doug Sheehan 

 
 
____________________________________ 
Phil Carter 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Brendan McNamara Email dated 10/27/2025 to Ted Reeves 

“As you know, the Town and Village of Ludlow is making a strong focus on revitalizing the 
downtown area in an effort to be more pedestrian friendly and continue to offer a variety of 
options to our community, this project seems to fit that mold.  The location at 130 Main 
Street has long been a source of community gathering as it location caters to that.  It will be 
wonderful if this project helps add some additional vibrance to the downtown of Ludlow.  As 
we spoke about the concerns regarding potential parking concerns with the new project 
offering 18 parking spots, it would be my hope that taking into consideration the parking 
offered along Main Street and the municipal parking lot located at 199 Main Street, this could 
be taken into consideration regarding parking space concerns.” 

 



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

13 
 

  



DRB Preliminary Minutes        October 27, 2025 
____________________________________________________________________________  
 

14 
 

 


